Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-7-2020

State of Idaho v. Natalie J. Miramontes Appellant's Brief Dckt. 47628

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The police detained Natalie Miramontes while they conducted a residence check on another female probationer. During the detention, an officer searched a purse he knew belonged to Ms. Miramontes, without her consent, and found baggies, syringes, and a crystalline substance that tested presumptively positive for methamphetamine inside the purse. Ms. Miramontes moved to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of her detention and the search of her purse. The district court denied her motion, and Ms. Miramontes entered a conditional guilty plea, reserving her right to appeal the district court's denial of her motion. On appeal, Ms. Miramontes contends the district court erred by denying her motion where her purse was searched absent reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal wrongdoing, and the probationer's Fourth Amendment waiver did not make lawful the search of Ms. Miramontes's purse. The evidence found in the purses and the during the subsequent search of the room in which Ms. Miramontes had stayed at the home should have been suppressed as the fruits of an unlawful search, and this Court should reverse the district court's order.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

On April 10, 2018, Parole Officers Raynee Myler and Matt LaVallee arrived at Christine Evans's home to do a residence check. (11/27/18 Tr., p.9, L.7 – p.10, L.17.) Ms. Evans was on felony probation, and she was being supervised by Officer Myler. (11/27/18 Tr., p.6, Ls.12-13.) Ms. Evans was on the phone when Officer Myler knocked and, before she opened the door for Officer Myler, she walked to the back of the house and then came back to the front door. (11/27/18 Tr., p.6, Ls.10-19.) When she opened the door for the officers, Officer Myler immediately walked to the back of the house, where she saw through an open window a different

female, later identified as Natalie Miramontes, hunched over and moving away from the back of the house. (11/27/18 Tr., p.6, Ls.18-19; p.8, L.17 – p.9, L.24.) Ms. Miramontes was in the yard near a shed, approximately ten feet from the house. (11/27/18 Tr., p.26, Ls.10-21; p.48, L.11 – p.49, L.22; State’s Exhibit 2.) Officer Myler yelled for Ms. Miramontes to “stop” three times. (11/27/18 Tr., p.9, L.25 – p.10, L.22.) Officer Myler saw Ms. Miramontes was carrying a backpack, which she dropped before coming back into the house. (11/27/18 Tr., p.9, Ls.23-24; p.45, Ls.1-10.)

Officer Myler questioned Ms. Miramontes, and learned her identity. (11/27/18 Tr., p.12, L.3 - p.13, L.4.) Ms. Miramontes said she had stayed at the house with Ms. Evans for one night. (11/27/18 Tr., p.12, Ls.2-6.) Officer Myler asked Ms. Miramontes for her identification, which Ms. Miramontes said was in her purse. (11/27/18 Tr., p.12, Ls.15-16; p.13, Ls.23-25.) Ms. Miramontes tried to go get the purse, but Officer Myler did not allow her to do so, and instead asked Officer LaVallee to retrieve the purse for Ms. Miramontes. (11/27/18 Tr., p.13, L.25 – p.14, L.8; p.36, L.21 – p.37, L.2.) Ms. Miramontes described her purse as a floral, patterned bag.¹ (11/27/18 Tr., p.14, Ls.3-5.) When Officer LaVallee opened one of the three cosmetic bags he had located amongst the things Ms. Miramontes dropped in the yard, a bag printed with palm trees, he saw what appeared to be illegal drugs and paraphernalia. (11/27/18 Tr., p.15, L.12 – p.16, L.4; p.42, Ls.2-8.) Ms. Miramontes’s identification was not in the print bag with the palm trees. (11/27/18 Tr., p.46, Ls.19-24.) The probation officers stopped searching and called the police department. (11/27/18 Tr., p.16, Ls.2-17.) While waiting for the other officers to arrive, Officer Myler handcuffed Ms. Miramontes, but told her that she was not

¹ Ms. Miramontes apparently was referring to one of the three cosmetics bags as her “purse,” and her identification was located inside a wallet in the large floral print cosmetics bag. (11/27/18 Tr., p.16, Ls.2-17; State’s Exhs. 3-6.)

under arrest. (11/27/18 Tr., p.17, Ls.4-12.) During Ms. Miramontes's detention, all three of the cosmetics bags that had been in Ms. Miramontes's possession in the yard were searched. (11/27/18 Tr., p.41, L.4 – p.46, L.4; State's Exhibit 2.) Officers found methamphetamine and drug paraphernalia in the bags. (11/27/18 Tr., p.18, Ls.11-24; State's Exhs. 3- 6.)

Ms. Miramontes identified the room in the home where she had slept, and a search of that room yielded a syringe and a container that held suspected methamphetamine. (11/27/18 Tr., p.18, L.3 – p.19, L.25; p.70, L.11 – p.71, L.3; R., p.14.) Based on the items found in the purses and the room, the State charged Ms. Miramontes by Information with felony possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. (R., pp.41-42.)

Ms. Miramontes moved to suppress the drug-related evidence on the grounds that it was obtained in violation of her Fourth Amendment rights. (R., pp.63-65; 73-80.) Specifically, she asserted that both her seizure and the subsequent search of her purses and the room in which she slept violated the Fourth Amendment.² (R., pp.63-65; 75-79.) The State filed a response asserting the seizure of Ms. Miramontes was justified by reasonable suspicion, and the search of the purse was likewise justified by reasonable suspicion, since Ms. Miramontes was carrying the purse when she left the house. (R., pp.97-98.) The State claimed that the initial detention of Ms. Miramontes was permissible because the probation officers were present at Ms. Evans's residence, who was on probation at the time and had agreed to submit to searches of her residence and belongings, and one term of Ms. Evans's probation was not to have unapproved

² After the district court's determination that Ms. Miramontes' detention was lawful, the Idaho Supreme Court issued its decision in *State v. Phipps*, 166 Idaho 1, 454 P.3d 1084, 1085 (2019), *cert. denied*, No. 19-1309, 2020 WL 5882265 (U.S. Oct. 5, 2020). In *Phipps*, the Court held parole officers may detain a non-parolee while performing a routine search of a parolee's residence. As such, Ms. Miramontes does not challenge her warrantless, suspicionless detention while the residence check at Ms. Evans's home was conducted. She challenges only the warrantless search of her purses and the room in which she slept.

individuals residing at the residence. (R., p.97.) The State argued, alternatively, that the doctrines of attenuation, independent source and/or inevitable discovery rendered the search results not excludable as fruits of the poisonous tree. (R., pp.128-31.)

On November 27, 2018, the district court held a hearing on the motion. (*See generally* 11/27/18 Tr., p.4, L.7 – p.97, L.13.) Thereafter, district court entered a written order denying Ms. Miramontes’s motion to suppress. (R., pp.133-44.) The court found that the detention and subsequent seizure of Ms. Miramontes was not in violation of her Fourth Amendment rights. (R., p.136.) The court held that, during the efforts to verify Ms. Miramontes’s identity, Officer LaVallee opened the purse and did not permit Ms. Miramontes to retrieve her own identification card for officer safety reasons. (R., p.142.) The court’s decision discussed the search using the *State v. Williams*, 162 Idaho 56, 63 (Ct. App. 2016), factors, finding that it was a *de minimus* invasion of Ms. Miramontes’s privacy interests, which did not overcome the more weighty law enforcement interests. (R., pp.142-43.) The district court balanced Ms. Miramontes’s privacy interests with the interests of the government and concluded that the detention of Ms. Miramontes to confirm her identity was *de minimus* and constitutionally permissible. (R., p.142.) “Additionally, the detention of the Defendant via handcuffs upon the discovery of drug related items was also *de minimus* and constitutionally permissible.” (R., p.143.) The court concluded that the intrusion to Ms. Miramontes’s liberty did not overcome the more weighty law enforcement interests regarding the need to control the scene for officer safety, as well as prevent the detained individual from concealing or disposing of any evidence. (R., pp.142-43.)

Ms. Miramontes entered a conditional guilty plea to an amended information charging her with possession of a controlled substance. (11/22/19 Tr., p.20, L.21 – p.22, L.24; p.25, Ls.2-4; R., pp.158-67.) The State agreed to dismiss the sentencing enhancement. (11/22/19 Tr., p.21,

Ls.5-25; R., pp.168-69.) As part of the plea agreement, Ms. Miramontes reserved her right to appeal the district court's order denying her motion to suppress. (11/22/19 Tr., p.29, Ls.12-22; R., p.162.)

The district court sentenced Ms. Miramontes to three years, with two years fixed, suspended execution of the sentence, and placed Ms. Miramontes on probation for three years.³ (11/25/19 Tr., p.42, L.23 – p.43, L.4; R., pp.182-85.) Ms. Miramontes timely appealed from the district court's judgment of conviction. (R., pp.186–88, 192-96.)

³ Ms. Miramontes' sentence in this case was ordered to be served concurrently with her sentence in Bannock County case number CR-2017-3019, a case in which Ms. Miramontes pled guilty to grand theft. (11/25/19 Tr., p.36, Ls.4-18.)

ISSUE

Did the district court err when it denied Ms. Miramontes's motion to suppress?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred When It Denied Ms. Miramontes's Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Ms. Miramontes asserts that the district court erred when it denied her motion to suppress because her purse was searched, absent reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal wrongdoing. Further, neither officer safety nor the probationer's Fourth Amendment waiver authorized the search of Ms. Miramontes's purses or the room in which she slept. Finally, the State's asserted exceptions to the exclusionary rule are inapplicable to this case.

B. Standard Of Review

The Court uses a bifurcated standard to review a district court's order on a motion to suppress. *State v. Danney*, 153 Idaho 405, 408 (2012); *State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 571 (Ct. App. 2014). "The Court accepts the trial court's findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence." *State v. Watts*, 142 Idaho 230, 234 (2005). "At a suppression hearing, the power to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve factual conflicts, weigh evidence and draw factual inferences is vested in the trial court." *Hunter*, 156 Idaho at 570. This Court exercises free review of "the trial court's application of constitutional principles to the facts found." *Danney*, 153 Idaho at 408.

C. The District Court Erred When It Denied Ms. Miramontes's Motion To Suppress Because Law Enforcement Lacked Reasonable Articulable Suspicion Of Criminal Conduct

In this case, Officer Myler seized Ms. Miramontes because she was on the premises during a probationer's residence check. However, although Ms. Miramontes was observed

leaving the probationer's residence out the back door, such did not give rise to reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal conduct. At most, Officer Myler had an unsubstantiated hunch.

The touchstone of Fourth Amendment analysis is always "the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular governmental invasion of a citizen's personal security." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 (1968). Reasonableness hinges on "on a balance between the public interest and the individual's right to personal security free from arbitrary interference by law officers." *United States v. Brignoni-Ponce*, 422 U.S. 873, 878 (1975).

The United States Supreme Court has stated that a seizure under the Fourth Amendment "must be based on specific, objective facts indicating that society's legitimate interests require the seizure *of the particular individual*, or that seizure must be carried out pursuant to a plan embodying explicit, neutral limitations on the conduct of individual officers." *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47, 51 (1979) (emphasis added). The *Brown* Court went on to note "we have required the officers to have a reasonable suspicion, based on objective facts, that the individual is involved in criminal activity." *Id.* Reasonable suspicion must be based on specific, articulable facts considered with objective and reasonable inferences that form a basis for particularized suspicion. *State v. Sheldon*, 139 Idaho 980, 983-84 (Ct. App. 2003). Particularized suspicion consists of two elements: (1) the determination must be based on a totality of the circumstances, and (2) the determination must yield a particularized suspicion that the particular individual being stopped is engaged in wrongdoing. *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981). "An officer may draw reasonable inferences from the facts in his or her possession, and those inferences may be drawn from the officer's experience and law enforcement training." *State v. Swindle*, 148 Idaho 61, 64 (Ct. App. 2009). However, the officer "must be able to articulate more than an 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion' or 'hunch' of criminal activity."

Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123-124 (2000) (quoting *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989)). As the Idaho Supreme Court concluded in *State v. Gonzales*:

The fatal flaws in the State's case are that Officer Scholten never *articulated* what *criminal* suspicion he had of Gonzales' behavior, other than the fact that Gonzales was perhaps hiding from him. As we have iterated above, an officer must "have a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity." *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. at 417-418, 101 S.Ct. 690. Here, the officer failed to articulate what suspicion of criminal behavior he had that led him to direct the flashlight onto himself and detain Gonzales.

State v. Gonzales, 165 Idaho 667, 674 (2019) (emphasis in original).

Flight is not, standing alone, a basis for reasonable articulable suspicion, "the United States Supreme Court had declined to adopt per se rules regarding flight, but retained the totality of circumstances analysis when considering whether reasonable suspicion existed." *Padilla v. State*, 158 Idaho 184, 189 (Ct. App. 2014). The *Padilla* Court was referring to *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124-25 (2000), in which the United States Supreme Court held that the defendant's "presence in an area of heavy narcotics trafficking" combined with "his unprovoked flight upon noticing the police" provided reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances such that an investigatory stop was warranted. *Id.* at 124-25. The *Wardlow* majority explained that "[h]eadlong flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion: It is not necessarily indicative of wrongdoing, but it is certainly suggestive of such." *Id.* at 124.

The State contended that Ms. Miramontes's flight provided Officer Myler with reasonable articulable suspicion to detain Ms. Miramontes to investigate her for purposes of identification, safety, and to investigate her potential involvement in criminal activity. (R., p.86.) On appeal, Ms. Miramontes does not challenge the officers' authority to enter and look over Ms. Evans's residence based upon Ms. Evans's Fourth Amendment waiver. (See State's Exhibit 1.) Recent Idaho case law has also affirmed the constitutionality of Ms. Miramontes's detention

due to her presence at the home of such a probationer during a routine probation search of the home. *See State v. Phipps*, 454 P.3d 1084, 1087 (2019). However, Ms. Evans’s Fourth Amendment waiver did not provide authority for the officers to search Ms. Miramontes or her personal property. Although the district court did not address the lawfulness of the search of Ms. Miramontes’s purse,⁴ Ms. Miramontes argues on appeal that her purse was unlawfully searched without her consent and absent a warrant or reasonable suspicion (much less the probable cause necessary to have obtained a warrant).

“The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects citizens from unreasonable search and seizure.” *State v. Hansen*, 138 Idaho 791, 796 (2003). “A search and seizure, conducted without a warrant issued on probable cause, is presumptively unreasonable.” *Hansen*, 138 Idaho at 796. “When a warrantless search or seizure is challenged by the defendant, the State bears the burden to show that a recognized exception to the warrant requirement is applicable.” *Halen v. State*, 136 Idaho 829, 833 (2002); *State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 570 (Ct. App. 2014) (same).

One exception allows law enforcement to detain individuals while executing a search warrant. “When law enforcement officers are executing a search warrant on a premises, officers are allowed to briefly detain the occupants of the premises described in the warrant.” *State v. Davis*, 158 Idaho 857, 860 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 705 (1981)). The *Summers* rule “extends farther” than others “because it does not require law

⁴ There were three patterned cosmetics bags recovered from the armful of items Ms. Miramontes dropped in the yard. (11/27/18 Tr., p.41, L.4 – p.42, L.15; State’s Exhibit 4.) Ms. Miramontes described her “purse” as the floral print bag. (11/27/18 Tr., p.14, Ls.3-5; p.43, Ls.1-3 p.75, L.5 – p.76, L.4.) Officer LaVallee opened a purse printed with palm leaves, not flowers, and observed drug items. (11/27/18 Tr., p.15, Ls.12-19; p.42, Ls.2-24; p.76, Ls.2-18; p.78, Ls.1-3.) Regardless of which purse Ms. Miramontes meant, all three purses or bags were in her possession and she did not deny ownership or responsibility for any of them. Herein, Ms. Miramontes shall refer to her “purse” as the cosmetic bag with palm leaves printed on it.

enforcement to have particular suspicion that an individual is involved in criminal activity or poses a specific danger to the officers.” *Bailey v. United States*, 568 U.S. 186, 193 (2013). In *State v. Phipps*, the Idaho Supreme Court addressed the constitutionality of a suspicionless detention of a third party during a routine parole search. 454 P.3d 1084, 1087 (2019). The Court held, “when an individual is being lawfully detained during such a search, their rights under the Fourth Amendment are not infringed by an officer’s questioning, even if unrelated to the detention or the search . . . officers have the categorical authority to detain all occupants of a residence incident to a lawful parole or probation search and to question them as long as the detention is not prolonged by the questioning.” *Id.* at 1091.

A felony probationer’s consent to searches as a condition of probation provides justification for warrantless searches of the probationer’s home. *State v. Turek*, 150 Idaho 745, 747 (Ct. App. 2011). However, when the basis for a search is consent, the State must conform its search to the limitation placed upon the consent. *Id.* 150 Idaho at 749. “The standard for measuring the scope of consent under the Fourth Amendment is that of objective reasonableness.” *Id.* (citing *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991)).

In this case, Officer Myler spoke to Ms. Miramontes and asked her name and to see her identification. (11/27/18 Tr., p.12, L.3 – p.13, L.4; p.12, Ls.15-16; p.13, Ls.23-25.) Ms. Miramontes identified herself as Natalie Miramontes. (11/27/18 Tr., p.12, L.3 - p.13, L.4.) However, when Ms. Miramontes tried to go to her purse to obtain her identification, Officer Myler stepped in front of her, preventing Ms. Miramontes from performing the task, “She attempted to retrieve her ID when I asked her for it, and I did step in front of her way. And I -- at that time I told her that Mr. LaVallee would go and get that for her. And she stepped back.” (11/27/18 Tr., p.36, L.24 – p.37, L.2.) Neither officer asked Ms. Miramontes for permission to

open her purse. (11/27/18 Tr., p.36, L.17 – p.37, L.11.) Officer LaVallee found a printed purse and opened it outside of Ms. Miramontes’s presence. (11/27/18 Tr.,p.75, L.11 – p.76, L.9.) Upon opening the purse, he saw drug-related items. (11/27/18 Tr., p.15, Ls.12-19; p.42, Ls.2-8.) The State has not claimed that Ms. Miramontes consented to the search of her purse. (*See* R., pp.86-98.) Nor is the State’s purported “safety concern” justification for the search of Ms. Miramontes’s purse.⁵ And, contrary to the State’s argument, the identification of Ms. Miramontes in order to determine Ms. Evans’s compliance on probation does not give rise to an exception to the warrant requirement such that the officer lawfully searched Ms. Miramontes’s purse to retrieve her driver’s license. (R., pp.97-98.) Although the district court seemed to discuss the lawfulness of the search using the *Williams* factors, concluding there was a *de minimus* invasion of Ms. Miramontes’s privacy interests which did not overcome the more weighty law enforcement interests (R., pp.142-43), *Williams* was a case in which the Court of Appeals analyzed the lawfulness of the defendant’s detention during the execution of a search warrant. *Id.* 162 Idaho at 63-64. A search of the defendant’s personal possessions was not at issue in *Williams*. *Id.* Finally, the State has not claimed and the district court did not find that Ms. Evans had actual or apparent authority over Ms. Miramontes’s purse or the items in the room Ms. Miramontes had been sleeping in. (R., pp.73-144.)

It is clear that Ms. Miramontes displayed ownership of the purse and an intent to maintain control over the purse by attempting to obtain her identification without assistance from law enforcement. (11/27/18 Tr., p.36, L.24 – p.37, L.2.) She was prevented from doing so, and the

⁵ Officer safety is not an exception to the search warrant requirement, but may warrant a *Terry* frisk, or pat-down search of the suspect’s clothing. *See State v. Henage*, 143 Idaho 655, 662 (2007) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968) in holding a pat-down may be justified following an objective determination as to “whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.”)

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