Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-29-2021

State v. Miramontes Respondent's Brief Dckt. 47628

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

ARGUMENT

Miramontes Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred When It Denied The Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

The district court held that Miramontes's seizure did not violate the Fourth Amendment and thus denied Miramontes's motion to suppress. (R., pp.133-44.³) On appeal, Miramontes asserts the district court erred by denying her motion to suppress because the search of her purse was unlawful. (Appellant's brief, pp.7-11.) Her argument is unpreserved. She also asserts that all evidence must be suppressed as the fruits of that unlawful search. (Appellant's brief, pp.13-16.) She is incorrect.

The district court properly denied the motion to suppress on the basis that Miramontes was not unlawfully seized. Miramontes's argument that the search of her purse was unlawful is not preserved for appeal because she did not support such an assertion with any cogent argument or authority below. Even if she did present some iteration of the argument she presents on appeal to the district court, the argument is nevertheless unpreserved because she not obtain an adverse ruling from the district court regarding the legality of the search. Even if Miramontes's detention or the search of her purse was unlawful, the evidence found in the bedroom she was staying in is not subject to suppression as it would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means.

³ Although Miramontes contended that both constitutions were violated in her motion to suppress, she has provided no argument why Article I, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution should be applied differently than the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (R., pp.63-65, 73-82, 101-16; Appellant's brief, pp.7-13.) Therefore, the Court should solely rely on judicial interpretation of the Fourth Amendment in its analysis of Miramontes's claims. See State v. Reynolds, 143 Idaho 911, 914, 155 P.3d 712, 715 (Ct. App. 2007).

B. Standard Of Review

“The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the Court accepts the trial court’s findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to the facts as found.” State v. Moore, 164 Idaho 379, 381, 430 P.3d 1278, 1280 (2018) (quoting State v. Page, 140 Idaho 841, 103 P.3d 454, 456 (2004)).

C. The District Court Correctly Held That Miramontes Was Lawfully Seized

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects ‘[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.’” State v. Bishop, 146 Idaho 804, 810, 203 P.3d 1203, 1209 (2009) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. IV). “Like the Fourth Amendment, the purpose of Art. I, § 17 [of the Idaho Constitution] is to protect Idaho citizens’ reasonable expectation of privacy against arbitrary governmental intrusion.” State v. Albertson, 165 Idaho 126, 129, 443 P.3d 140, 143 (2019) (quoting State v. Christensen, 131 Idaho 143, 146, 953 P.2d 583, 586 (1998)). Warrantless searches and seizures are presumptively unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. State v. Wulff, 157 Idaho 416, 419, 337 P.3d 575, 578 (2014) (citations omitted).

Generally, “an official seizure of the person must be supported by probable cause, even if no formal arrest is made” in order to be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Michigan v. Summers, 452 U.S. 692, 696 (1981) (citing Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 204 (1979)). However, “some seizures significantly less intrusive than an arrest have withstood scrutiny under the reasonableness standard embodied in the Fourth Amendment.” Id. at 697 (citations omitted). “In these cases the intrusion on the citizen’s privacy ‘was so much less severe’ than that involved in a traditional arrest that ‘the opposing interest in crime prevention and detection and in police

officer safety’ could support the seizure as reasonable.” Id. at 697-98 (quoting Dunaway, 442 U.S. at 209).

Applying the foregoing principles, the U.S. Supreme Court held that a valid search warrant “implicitly carries with it the limited authority [for law enforcement officers] to detain the occupants of the premises [to be searched] while a proper search is conducted.” Summers, 452 U.S. at 705. In reaching its decision, the Court examined the character of the intrusion and its justifications. Id. at 701-03. The Court concluded that when police officers are searching a house pursuant to a valid search warrant, the detention of an occupant is minimally intrusive. Id. at 701-02. The Court also recognized three legitimate justifications for such an intrusion: (1) the need to prevent flight in the event incriminating evidence is found; (2) the interest in minimizing the risk of harm to the officers; and (3) the orderly completion of the search. Id. at 702-03. Because the intrusion on the citizen’s privacy is so much less severe than that involved in a traditional arrest, such seizures are reasonable given the law enforcement interests. Summers, 452 U.S. at 704-05.

The Idaho Supreme Court recently extended the Summers rule to permit the limited detention of the occupants of a home during a parole or probation search. State v. Phipps, 166 Idaho 1, 454 P.3d 1084 (2019). The Court determined that the intrusion caused by such detentions is slight and that the governmental interests outlined in Summers apply with the same force to parole and probation searches. Id. at ___-___, 454 P.3d at 1090-91. Accordingly, the Court held that “officers have categorical authority to detain all occupants of a residence incident to a lawful parole or probation search and to question them as long as the detention is not prolonged by the questioning.” Id. at ___, 454 P.3d 1091.

Here, the district court correctly determined that Miramontes’s detention did not violate the Fourth Amendment. It is undisputed that the probation officers had authority to enter and

search Evans's residence. (Appellant's brief, p.9; see also R., p.78.) Evans consented to warrantless searches of her person, property, and residence as a condition of her participation in mental health court. (State's Ex. 1.) Additionally, Miramontes was inside Evans's home when the officers arrived (R., pp.133-34; 11/27/18 Tr., p.9, Ls.6-24), and she later admitted that she had been living in a spare bedroom inside Evans's home for several days before they arrived (R., p.134; 11/27/18 Tr., p.12, Ls.2-8; p.14, L.25 – p.15, L.9). Although Miramontes immediately fled out of a back door, she obeyed Officer Myler's order to stop and come back inside the home where she was detained. (R., p.134; 11/27/19 Tr., p.10, Ls.24-25; p.17, Ls.4-12.) Because officers have categorical authority to detain any occupants of a residence incident to a lawful probation search, the probation officers did not violate Miramontes's Fourth Amendment rights when they detained her while conducting the search of Evans's home. Therefore, the district court did not err when it denied the motion to suppress on the grounds that Miramontes's detention did not violate the Fourth Amendment.

On appeal, Miramontes claims that she "does not challenge her warrantless, suspicionless detention." (Appellant's brief, p.3 n.2.) She concedes that "Idaho case law has ... affirmed the constitutionality of [her] detention due to her presence at the home of ... a probationer during a routine probation search of the home." (Appellant's brief, pp.9-10 (citing Phipps, 166 Idaho 1, 454 P.3d 1084).) Nevertheless, she devotes several pages of her opening brief to the argument that a seizure must be based on the reasonable suspicion that a particular individual is involved in criminal activity and that flight alone is not a basis for reasonable suspicion. (Appellant's brief, pp.7-9.) To the extent she argues that the district court incorrectly held that her seizure was lawful, proper application of Phipps shows that her argument is misplaced. The reasonableness standard embodied in the Fourth Amendment is not violated when a third-party occupant of a residence is

detained while officers conduct a probation search of the residence, regardless of whether the officers have reasonable suspicion that the third party is involved in criminal activity. Phipps, 166 Idaho at ___-___, 454 P.3d at 1090-91. Miramontes has not argued that Phipps was wrongly decided or shown that her detention was unlawful. Accordingly, she has failed to show that the district court erred when it denied her motion to suppress on the grounds that her detention was lawful.

D. Miramontes's Claim That Her Purse Was Unlawfully Searched Is Not Preserved

Miramontes asserts the district court erred when it denied her motion to suppress because the search of her purse was illegal. (Appellant's brief, pp.7-13.) Her argument is unpreserved.

Issues not raised below generally may not be considered for the first time on appeal. State v. Fodge, 121 Idaho 192, 195, 824 P.2d 123, 126 (1992). "Appellate court review is limited to the evidence, theories, and *arguments* that were presented below." State v. Armstrong, 158 Idaho 364, 367, 347 P.3d 1025, 1028 (Ct. App. 2015) (emphasis added) (citing State v. Johnson, 148 Idaho 664, 670, 227 P.3d 918, 924 (2010)). A party may not claim the district court's decision was in error based on an argument that was not presented to the district court for its consideration. State v. Demint, 161 Idaho 231, 233, 384 P.3d 995, 997 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing Armstrong, 158 Idaho at 368, 347 P.3d at 1029); see also State v. Gonzalez, 165 Idaho 95, 99, 439 P.3d 1267, 1271 (2019) ("We will not hold that a trial court erred in making a decision on an issue or a party's position on an issue that it did not have the opportunity to address.") "Even when a defendant mentions the general basis for a motion to suppress, his or her arguments on appeal are limited by what was argued to the trial court." Demint, 161 Idaho at 233, 384 P.3d at 997 (citing State v. Anderson, 154 Idaho 703, 705-06, 302 P.3d 328, 330-31 (2012)).

Miramontes failed to present to the district court any cogent argument, backed by authority and citations to evidence in the record, regarding the allegedly unlawful search of her purse. In her motion to suppress, Miramontes asserted that the evidence should be suppressed on the sole basis of “an illegal *seizure*.” (R., p.63 (emphasis added).) She did not assert on the face of the motion that her constitutional rights were violated by an unlawful search. (R., pp.63-65.)

In her first brief in support of the motion to suppress, Miramontes made the bare assertion for the first time that the search of her purse violated the Fourth Amendment. (R., p.75.) However, she did not support this bare assertion with any authority, argument, or citation to the evidence in the record. (R., pp.75-81.) She argued generally that her Fourth Amendment rights were violated under the balancing test set forth in State v. Williams, 162 Idaho 56, 394 P.2d 99 (Ct. App. 2016). (R., pp.75-81.) It appears she urged the district court to determine whether the “search of her property was constitutionally permissible” using the Williams factors. (R., p.75.) However, Williams is inapplicable to the determination of whether a search violates the Fourth Amendment. See Williams, 162 Idaho at 60-64, 394 P.2d at 103-07 (holding that the *detention* of a third party during the execution of an arrest warrant does not necessarily violate the Fourth Amendment). Even Miramontes acknowledges on appeal that Williams is not relevant to a determination of whether the purse was illegally searched. (Appellant’s brief, p.12.) Thus, in her first brief Miramontes failed to support the bare assertion that her purse was unlawfully searched with any relevant authority or argument.

If Miramontes’s intended to raise the argument she now asserts on appeal in her first brief, it flew past both the district court and the state. During the second hearing on the motion to suppress, which was held at the court’s request, defense counsel asserted that the officers “illegally searched the purse.” (2/25/19 Tr., p.8, L.10 – p.10, L.1.) The court immediately responded, “And

see, this issue was not addressed in either one of your briefs.” (2/25/19 Tr., p.10, Ls.2-8.) Later, Miramontes suggested for the first time that the officers needed consent to search her purse, which caused the court to further express its confusion and request supplemental briefing from the parties. (2/25/19 Tr., p.12, L.4 – p.15, L.20; p.19, Ls.6-7.)

Given the opportunity to provide additional briefing, Miramontes again made the bare assertion that “the evidence obtained from Officer LaVallee’s search of the pink/salmon bag was the product of an illegal search.” (R., p.102.) Yet, again she failed to provide any cogent argument or relevant authority in support of this assertion. (R., pp.102-16.) Instead, she argued that the evidence discovered in her purse and the evidence found in the bedroom should be suppressed because neither the attenuation doctrine, nor the inevitable discovery doctrine, nor the independent source doctrine applied. (Id.) Because she failed to support the bare assertion that the search of her pink purse was unlawful with any argument or authority below, such arguments are not preserved for appeal.

Moreover, even if some iteration of the argument Miramontes’s raises on appeal was made below, she never secured an adverse ruling on the issue. “Even if an issue was argued to a lower court, to preserve an issue for appeal there must be a ruling by the [lower] court.” Johnson v. Crossett, 163 Idaho 200, 207, 408 P.3d 1272, 1279 (2018) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). This Court “will not review a trial court’s alleged error on appeal unless the record discloses an adverse ruling which forms the basis for the assignment of error.” State v. Fisher, 123 Idaho 481, 485, 849 P.2d 942, 946 (1993). Here, the district court unambiguously ruled solely on the legality of Miramontes’s seizure. (R., pp.136-43.) The district court ruled that “the *detention* of the Defendant to confirm her identity was ... constitutionally permissible.” (R., p.143 (emphasis added).) The court did not address or rule on the legality of the search of Miramontes’s

purse. (R., pp.136-43.) Therefore, the record does not contain an adverse ruling which forms the basis for the assignment of error.

In sum, Miramontes's failed to support the bare assertion that her purse was illegally searched with any cogent argument or relevant authority, and the court did not address, much less rule on, the legality of the search of her purse. Because appellate review is limited to the arguments that Miramontes presented below, and because she failed to obtain an adverse ruling on the issue of the alleged illegal search, the argument that the district court erred because the search of her purse was illegal is not preserved for appeal.

E. Regardless Of The Legality Of Either The Search Or The Seizure, The Evidence Found In The Bedroom Is Not Subject To Suppression

Even assuming that Miramontes was unlawfully seized and/or her purse unlawfully searched, the evidence found in the bedroom she was staying is not subject to suppression. Generally, evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is subject to the exclusionary rule. State v. Cohagan, 162 Idaho 717, 720, 404 P.3d 659, 662 (2017) (citing Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 485 (1963); Page, 140 Idaho at 846, 103 P.3d at 459). The exclusionary rule is a judicial remedy for addressing illegal searches and seizures. State v. Bunting, 142 Idaho 908, 915, 136 P.3d 379, 386 (Ct. App. 2006). The rule requires the suppression of “primary evidence obtained as a direct result of an illegal search or seizure” as well as “evidence later discovered and found to be derivative of an illegality or ‘fruit of the poisonous tree.’” Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984) (citation omitted). “However, there are various exceptions to the exclusionary rule.” Cohagan, 162 Idaho at 720-21, 404 P.3d at 662-63 (citations omitted).

One such exception is the inevitable discovery doctrine. “[T]he inevitable discovery doctrine asks courts to engage in a hypothetical finding into the lawful actions law enforcement

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